FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/1/2019 12:48 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 97373-3

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 775693-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

JUANITA COUNTRY CLUB CONDOMINIUM OWNERS ASSOCIATION Respondent - Plaintiff

v.

PHILLIPS REAL ESTATE SERVICES, LLC Petitioner - Defendant

PHILLIPS REAL ESTATE SERVICES, LLC'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Matt Adamson, WSBA #31731

JAMESON BABBITT STITES & LOMBARD, P.L.L.C.

801 Second Avenue, Suite 700 Seattle, Washington 98104-4001

Telephone: 206 292 1994 madamson@jbsl.com

Attorneys for Phillips Real Estate Services, LLC

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner is Phillips Real Estate Services, LLC. Petitioner was the defendant in the trial court and the respondent in the Court of Appeals.

II. THE COURT OF APPEALS OPINION

Phillips seeks review of the opinion issued in *Juanita Country Club Condo. Owners Ass'n v. Phillips Real Estate Servs., L.L.C.*, No. 77569-3-I, 2019 WL 1013972 (Mar. 4, 2019) (the "Opinion"). The Opinion reversed the trial court's grant of summary judgment, and *sua sponte* ruled on the meaning of the contract as a matter of law in favor of Juanita County Club Condominium Association ("JCC"). *See* Appendix A. On May 30, 2019, the Court of Appeals denied Phillips' timely motion for reconsideration. *See* Appendix B.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Does the Opinion conflict with published precedent by *sua sponte* granting summary judgment to JCC as the non-moving party?
- 2. Should this Court resolve the conflicting standards for when contract interpretation is a question of law?
- 3. Does the Opinion conflict with published precedent as to interpretation of potentially conflicting contract provisions?
- 4. Should the issue of contract interpretation be remanded for trial, or decided in favor of Phillips as a matter of law?

PETITION FOR REVIEW - 1

5. Did the Court err in not awarding fees to Phillips?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

- 1. JCC is a condominium association with 112 unit owners. JCC hired Phillips to manage the condominium. The parties negotiated, revised, and signed a Management Agreement. (CP 73-74; 79-84)
- 2. Section 8 of the first draft of the Agreement initially recited a fact: "Association acknowledges the receipt from Agent of a pamphlet on the law of real estate agency as required by RCW 18.86.030(1)." (*Id.*)
- 3. During negotiations, JCC changed Section 8 by adding "(Honesty, Good Faith, Reasonable Care, Material Facts)" under the recital. (CP 81) Frank Sloan, JCC's president, testified why he added that parenthetical:

I wrote ... "(Honesty, Good Faith, Reasonable Care, Material Facts)" ... because that is the duty of care that the referenced Revised Code of Washington's statute required. (CP 268)

- 4. The Opinion incorrectly states that both parties drafted the parenthetical added to Section 8. (Compare Opinion p. 10 with CP 268)
- 5. The parties initialed Sloan's addition to Section 8. In fact, the parties initialed the page containing Sections 8 and 10 in five places. Further, when they wanted to delete language, they crossed it out and initialed it. They did not cross out Section 10. (CP 81)

- 6. Mr. Sloan, for JCC, signed the Management Agreement on June 6, 2012. Phillips signed on June 15, 2012. (79-84) In its final form, Sections 8 and 10, each on page 3 of the Agreement, read:
 - **8.0 REAL ESTATE AGENCY LAW.** Association acknowledges the receipt from Agent of a pamphlet on the law of real estate agency as required by RCW 18.86.030. (*Honesty, Good Faith, Reasonable Care, Material Facts*).

. .

- **10.0 RESPONSIBILITY**. Agent [Phillips] shall be responsible for willful misconduct or gross negligence but shall not be held responsible for any matters relating to error of judgment, or for any mistakes of fact or law, or for anything, which it may do or refrain from doing which does not include any willful misconduct or gross negligence. (CP 81) (Attached hereto as Appendix C)
- 7. After Phillips resigned in 2015, JCC filed suit for breach of contract, seeking damages, mostly for "accounting" errors. The trial court dismissed JCC's claims on summary judgment, ruling that Section 10 required JCC to prove gross negligence.
- 8. The Court of Appeals reversed, *sua sponte* holding as a matter of law that the parenthetical added to Section 8 imposed a duty of reasonable care and that Section 10 is meaningless.

V. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

Under RAP 13.4, this Court will accept review if (1) the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of this Court or with

a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (2) the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest. Both apply here.

B. <u>Sua Sponte</u> Ruling Without Proper Opportunity to Present Evidence of Disputed Material Facts Conflicts With Precedent

JCC's summary judgment motion did not ask the trial court to rule that Section 8 imposes a duty of reasonable care that conflicts with and deletes Section 10. (CP 13-24) JCC raised that argument for the first time in a "motion for reconsideration" (CP 417) and Phillips objected to JCC seeking new relief in such a motion. (CP 841-42)

On Appeal, JCC barely addressed the argument that Section 8 trumps Section 10. (Open. Br. at p. 31) JCC argued that interpretation of Sections 8 and 10 presented "a question of fact" and asked that the issue be remanded for trial. (Reply p. 4) Nonetheless, the Court of Appeals effectively granted JCC summary judgment, *sua sponte* ruling on the meaning of Sections 8 and 10 in JCC's favor as a matter of law.

A court "could properly grant summary judgment to the [non-moving party] only after allowing [the moving party] to present evidence that material facts were in dispute." *Nishikawa v. U.S. Eagle High*, 138 Wn. App. 841, 852, 158 P.3d 1265 (2007); 14A Wash. Prac., Civil Procedure § 25:13 (3d ed.); *Wright and Miller*, 10A Fed. Prac. & Proc. Civ. § 2720.1 (4th ed.) *citing Fountain v. Filson*, 336 U.S. 681, 682,

(1949)); Cool Fuel v. Connett, 685 F.2d 309, 311-312 (9th Cir. 1982) (non-moving party must have "had a full and fair opportunity").

For example, had JCC filed a motion under CR 56, Phillips' may have included evidence of the context of negotiations, potentially deposition testimony from Mr. Sloan, other instances where potential clients actually asked Phillips to delete Section 10, or testimony from the former employee who negotiated the contract, or other extrinsic evidence that may be relevant. But JCC never filed a CR 56 motion on this issue.

This Court should accept review and hold that appellate courts cannot grant summary judgment against a party who had no opportunity under CR 56 to present conflicting evidence in the trial court. Thus, at a minimum, the parties' intent as to the meanings of Sections 8 and 10 should have been remanded.

C. Review is Appropriate to Resolve Conflicting Standards for When Contract Interpretation is a Question of Law

Our appellate courts have adopted conflicting standards for when contract interpretation is ripe for summary judgment. The standards of contract interpretation, and when contract interpretation is a question of law, are also issues of "substantial public interest" because they arise in almost every contract dispute. *See e.g. Kelley v. Tonda*, 198 Wn. App. 303, 307, 393 P.3d 824 (2017) (noting that lawyers these days think all

cases should be decided on summary judgment). It is time to provide one consistent standard for when contract interpretation is a question of law.

Many cases hold that contract interpretation "is a question of law when (1) the interpretation does not depend on the use of extrinsic evidence or (2) only one reasonable inference can be drawn from the extrinsic evidence." *Kelley*, 198 Wn. App. 303, 313; *Tanner Elec. v. Puget Sound Power*, 128 Wn.2d 656, 674, 911 P.2d 1301 (1996); *Berg v. Hudesman*, 115 Wn.2d 657, 668, 801 P.2d 222 (1990).

However, JCC argued for, and our appellate courts have also applied in other opinions, a conflicting standard, holding that there is a question of fact if the language, alone, has two or more reasonable meanings. See Wm. Dickson Co. v. Pierce Cty., 128 Wn. App. 488, 495, 116 P.3d 409 (2005) (holding that each party suggested a reasonable meaning of "third parties" and "[b]ecause more than one reasonable interpretation is possible here, the trial court erred when it granted" summary judgment); Marshall v. Thurston Cty., 165 Wn. App. 346, 351, 267 P.3d 491 (2011) ("Summary judgment is not appropriate on an ambiguous contract"): GMACChevrolet. ν. Everett 179 Wn. App. 126, 135, 142, 317 P.3d 1074 (2014) ("if two or more meanings are reasonable, a question of fact is presented").

Many of the "two or more reasonable meaning" cases include the words "when viewed in context," *GMAC*, 179 Wn. App. at 135, or when "viewed in light of the parties' other objective manifestations." *Go2Net v. C I Host*, 115 Wn. App. 73, 85, 60 P.3d 1245 (2003). However, this is still inconsistent with the standard in *Berg and Tanner Electric* because it would require a trial if there is more than "one reasonable meaning" of the language even if the "objective manifestations" are undisputed. *See e.g Wm. Dickson*, 128 Wn. App. at 494-95 (remanding because, although the facts were undisputed, "third parties" had two reasonable meanings).

A potentially related issue is the scope of "extrinsic evidence," specifically the frequent recitation that "extrinsic evidence may include ... (4) the reasonableness of respective interpretations urged by the parties." *Hearst Commc'ns v. Seattle Times*, 154 Wn.2d 493, 502, 115 P.3d 262 (2005). If a reasonable interpretation urged by the parties is extrinsic evidence, then "more than one reasonable interpretation" means there is disputed extrinsic evidence and thus a question of fact. If that is so, then the two standards are consistent. But interpretations proffered by counsel are advocacy, not evidence, and interpretations proffered by parties after a dispute arises are inadmissible subjective intent. *See Hollis v. Garwall*, 137 Wn.2d 683, 696, 974 P.2d 836 (1999).

This Court should accept review and ask for supplemental briefing on the proper standard for when contract interpretation is a question of law, and whether "reasonableness of the interpretations urged by the parties" is extrinsic evidence. The Court should overrule the standard in cases such as *Wm. Dickson*, 128 Wn. App. 488, and hold that when there is no extrinsic evidence, or the extrinsic evidence is undisputed, interpretation of language is a question of law - even if that language has two or more reasonable meanings. It should also hold that "interpretations urged by the parties" are not extrinsic evidence unless the urging came from a witness before the disputes arose, or is a party admission.

D. Review by this Court is Appropriate Because the Opinion Conflicts with Precedent and Misstates the Facts

It is a substantial public interest that courts interpret contracts applying consistent rules because it affects how contracts are negotiated, and confidence in judicial enforcement of contracts is vital to a democracy and to a free market economy.

Contract language, like elections, has consequences. This Court has consistently enforced that maxim, to forbid parties from escaping the agreed-upon terms. As this Court has held for at least 76 years:

It is elementary law, universally accepted, that the courts do not have the power, under the guise of interpretation, to rewrite contracts which the parties have deliberately made for themselves. ...

Interpretation of an agreement does not include its modification or the creation of a new or different one. A court is not at liberty to revise an agreement while professing to construe it.

Chaffee v. Chaffee, 19 Wn.2d 607, 625, 145 P.2d 244, 252 (1943); See also Panorama Vill. Condo. Owners Ass'n Bd. of Directors v. Allstate, 144 Wn.2d 130, 137, 26 P.3d 910, 914 (2001) (same).

In this case, the Opinion does not enforce the agreement as written.

Instead, it construes an ambiguous handwritten addition in favor of its drafter in order to delete an unambiguous Section 10.

Consistent with, and necessary to, the maxim that courts may not rewrite contracts for the parties, courts "will not adopt a contract interpretation that renders part of the contract ... meaningless." *Kelley*, 198 Wn. App. at 316; *Cambridge Townhomes v. Pac. Star Roofing*, 166 Wn.2d 475, 487, 209 P.3d 863 (2009). In this case, the Court of Appeals rendered an entire unambiguous Section 10 meaningless.

Similarly, Washington law requires that when two clauses potentially conflict, the Court must attempt to harmonize them such that both are given reasonable effect. *See Nishikawa*, 138 Wn. App. at 849. In this case, the Opinion makes no effort to harmonize Sections 8 and 10. The Court of Appeals did not address the (at least) three alternative

reasonable interpretations that harmonize Sections 8 and 10. (*See* Phillips Resp. Br. at pp. 23-25; Motion for Reconsideration).

Both this Court and the Court of Appeals also hold that ambiguous language is construed against the drafter. Ambiguous language is certainly not construed in favor of the drafter – especially when doing so renders a second unambiguous provision meaningless. *See Guy Stickney v. Underwood*, 67 Wn.2d 824, 827, 410 P.2d 7 (1966) (construing addition to form contract against the drafter and harmonizing with seemingly conflicting form provisions); *McDonald v. State Farm*, 119 Wn.2d 724, 734, 837 P.2d 1000 (1992) (rejecting interpretation of exclusion 3 that would render Section 4 meaningless); *GMAC*, 179 Wn. App. at 140 (rejecting proposed interpretations because they would render the "on demand provision … meaningless"). In this case, the Court of Appeals construed the ambiguous addition to Section 8 in favor of the drafter - and did so in order to render the unambiguous Section 10 meaningless.

The principle to enforce the agreed-upon language and thus harmonize seemingly conflicting terms, and construe ambiguous additions against the drafter, is required even when the ambiguous, seemingly conflicting provision, is a negotiated revision to a printed form contract. *See Guy Stickney*, 67 Wn.2d at 827; *see also Jones Assocs. v. Eastside Properties*, 41 Wn. App. 462, 468, 704 P.2d 681 (1985) (construing

addition to form contract against the party adding the ambiguity). In this case, the Court of Appeals construed the ambiguous addition in favor of its drafter, and made no attempt to harmonize.

The Opinion also includes material misstatements of the facts. The substance of the Opinion starts by relying on Section 9 of the Agreement, which addresses the requirement that changes to the agreement must be in writing, which has nothing to do with this case. The Court then states: "A Phillips representative and an Association representative inserted the following handwritten language" to Section 8. The Opinion then says that both "parties initialed and acknowledged the handwritten change to the standard of care." Opinion pp. 10-11.

First, while the parties did initial the change to Section 8, Section 8 was not a "standard of care." Whatever one might think of the words added to Section 8, prior to that, it was just a recital of fact – delivery of a pamphlet. It is not accurate to say that the parties "initialed ... the handwritten change to the standard of care." They initialed a change to a recital confirming delivery of a pamphlet.

Second, the addition to Section 8 was not inserted by "a Phillips representative and an Association representative." The addition was

¹ Section 9 has no relevance because the change to Section 8 was made during negotiations (CP 268), and not a post-agreement change.

added solely by Frank Sloan, JCC's president. (CP 268) Thus, the ambiguity – a string of words in a parenthetical added to a recital about delivery of a pamphlet – was from the sole hand of JCC.

Getting material facts wrong, and thus not applying precedent such as *Guy Stickney*, 67 Wn.2d 824, breeds cynicism and distrust. Correcting such errors, and applying precedent based on the facts, is of "substantial public interest" in a democracy. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Rather than accurately state the facts, apply precedents, and attempt to harmonize Sections 8 and 10 - all necessary to determine the intent of the parties in agreeing to the actual language of the agreement - the Opinion instead applies a "preference" for handwritten changes over typed provisions. For its "preference" position, the Court of Appeals relied on *Green River Valley Found, Inc. v. Foster,* 78 Wn.2d 245, 249, 473 P.2d 844 (1970) which cites to *Creditors' Ass'n v. Fry,* 179 Wash. 339, 342, 37 P.2d 688 (1934).

The Opinion, however, conflicts with those cases. Each of those cases notes that the preference for additions over printed terms only applies if the two contract provisions are "irreconcilable." *Creditors*', 179 Wash. 339, 342 ("irreconcilable"); *Green River*, 78 Wn.2d 245, 249 ("directly contrary to"). Applying the preference, therefore, is not the

first, or the only, step. One cannot say that two provisions are "irreconcilable" unless you first attempt to harmonize them and fail.

This is illustrated in the Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 203, Comment f, illustration 3:

A charter party contains the printed provision "vessel to have turn in loading." There is written below this, "vessel to be loaded promptly." The printed and written provisions are given the consistent meaning that the vessel shall take its turn in loading, though this involves considerable delay, but when its turn arrives, the vessel shall be loaded promptly

See also id, § 202, cmt. d, (noting that "[w]here the whole can be read to give significance to each part, that reading is preferred; if such a reading would be unreasonable, a choice must be made" under the preferences in Section 203, one of which is handwriting over printed).

Similarly, *Guy Stickney* involved a revision to a form contract, but this Court did not jump to accepting the revision as controlling over potentially conflicting form provisions. Rather, it construed the revision against the drafter, and then harmonized the provisions. 67 Wn.2d at 827.

There is no principled difference between a negotiated revision added with a pen and one added with a keyboard. There may ultimately be a reason to prefer a negotiated revision that is clear and irreconcilable with the original form, but not if the two provisions can both be given reasonable effect. The goal is to determine the intent of the parties in the

words used; not to apply technical rules of construction as "merely justifications for decisions arrived at on other grounds, which may or may not be revealed in the opinion." *Berg v. Hudesman*, 115 Wn.2d at 665.

Thus, the first step is to interpret what was written and not crossed out, i.e. determine if Section 8 can be harmonized with Section 10, such that both provisions agreed upon can be given reasonable effect.

Section 8 as modified solely by Mr. Sloan reads as follows:

8.0 **REAL ESTATE AGENCY LAW**. Association acknowledges the receipt from Agent of a pamphlet on the law of real estate agency as required by RCW 18.86.030. (*Honesty, Good Faith, Reasonable Care, Material Facts*).

It may be helpful, but not necessary, to consider that putting words in parentheses typically means they are an "aside," or "nonessential," or supplemental."² As to why he added the parenthetical, Mr. Sloan testified that he was in fact adding nonessential or supplemental information, words quoted from the referenced statute. He said:

I also wrote under Paragraph 8 entitled Real Estate Agency Law: "(Honesty, Good Faith, Reasonable Care, Material Facts)" It is my recollection that I wrote that in because that is the duty of care that the referenced Revised Code of Washington's statute required. (CP 268)

If Mr. Sloan's parenthetical is converted to a complete sentence – which itself is overly generous to JCC when deciding the issue in its favor as a matter of law - Section 8 has at least two reasonable interpretations:

² https://www.grammarbook.com/punctuation/parens.asp; https://awc.ashford.edu/PDFHandouts/Punctuations-Parentheses.pdf

- 1. Association acknowledges receipt from Agent of a pamphlet on the law of real estate agency, as required by RCW 18.86.030(1). (For brokerage services, RCW 18.86.030(1) imposes a duties of honesty, good faith, reasonable care, and disclosure of material facts).
- 2. Association acknowledges receipt from Agent of a pamphlet on the law of real estate agency, as required by RCW 18.86.030(1). (Phillips will perform real estate brokerage services consistent with duties of honesty, good faith, reasonable care, and disclosure of material facts).

As to interpretation 1, Section 8 was originally just a recital of a fact – delivery of a pamphlet arguably required by the statute. Mr. Sloan quoted from the referenced statute. Thus, it would be reasonable to construe Section 8 as a recital of what the pamphlet and/or statute said. After all, the "preference for an interpretation which gives meaning to every part of an agreement does not mean that every part is assumed to have legal consequences." Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 203.

As to interpretation 2, Mr. Sloan admits that he quoted a statute that only covers the duties of brokers rendering "real estate brokerage services" because he thought the "statute required" that "duty of care." Taking Mr. Sloan's at his word leads to interpretation number 2 above, i.e. that it applies to the work - brokerage services - covered by the statute he quoted. A reasonable juror could take Sloan at his word.³

³ JCC owned and was renting out a unit (CP 170), and it would be real estate brokerage services to assist them in leasing or selling that unit. RCW 18.85.151(12).

These two reasonable interpretations can be harmonized with Section 10. Section 8 recites the statute or applies to real estate brokerage services. Section 10 applies to claims arising out of all other services, including bookkeeping, hiring maintenance companies, etc.

Supporting these interpretations that give reasonable meaning to both Sections 8 and 10 is the fact that the parties initialed the page with Section 10 in five different places. (CP 81) Initialing a page indicates agreement with the terms on that page; not an intent to delete those terms. See Michak v. Transnation Title, 148 Wn.2d 788, 799, 64 P.3d 22 (2003).

Moreover, in other parts of the contract, when the parties agreed on revisions that conflicted with the printed words - including two places on the same page as Section 10 - each time they crossed out the language they intended to delete. (CP 79, 81) When the parties wanted to delete conflicting language, they knew how. They did not delete Section 10.

Finally, these two interpretations, enforcing both Section 8 and Section 10, are further supported by the fact that JCC drafted the ambiguous addition to Section 8, which is construed against JCC as its drafter. *See Guy Stickney*, 67 Wn.2d 824, 827 (construing *a revision to a form* against the drafter and harmonizing the provisions).

Applying the conflicting summary judgment standards, under the standard argued by JCC, there is at least one "reasonable interpretation"

that gives effect to both Sections 8 and 10. Therefore, it conflicts with published precedent to interpret the agreement as a matter of law to render Section 10 meaningless. *See Wm. Dickson*, 128 Wn. App. at 495 (two reasonable interpretations prevented summary judgment).

Under the alternative standard, considering the reasonable inferences from the extrinsic evidence in favor of Phillips, a reasonable juror could conclude that the parties intended for both Sections 8 and 10 to apply. The extrinsic evidence includes Sloan's admission that he added the language in Section 8 because he thought the statute regulating brokerage services applied, and *not* because he was attempting to delete Section 10. With extrinsic evidence supporting Phillips' interpretation, ruling on the meaning in favor of JCC as a matter of law conflicts with published precedent. *See Berg*, 115 Wn.2d at 668.

E. While Disputed Facts Prevent *Sua Sponte* Summary Judgment for JCC, the Same is Not True as to Affirming the Trial Court

To this point, deciding between the conflicting summary judgment standards is necessary to provide the proper explanation for reversal of the Court of Appeals' *sua sponte* conclusion that Section 10 is meaningless. Under either standard, the Opinion conflicts with a number of published precedents. But whether to affirm the trial court, or remand for trial, may depend on which standard is correct.

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