FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/31/2019 3:25 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 97373-3

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 775693-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION I

JUANITA COUNTRY CLUB CONDOMINIUM OWNERS ASSOCIATION Respondent - Plaintiff

v.

PHILLIPS REAL ESTATE SERVICES, L.L.C. Petitioner - Defendant

JUANITA COUNTRY CLUB CONDOMINIUM OWNERS ASSOCIATION'S ANSWER TO PHILLIPS REAL ESTATE SERVICES, LLC'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

FIFTH AVENUE LAW GROUP PLLC David Betz, WSBA No. 28518 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2800 Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 587-5700

Attorneys for Juanita Country Club Owners Association

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Standard for Review.

Rules of Appellate Procedure ("RAP") 13.4(b) provides that a

petition for review to this Court is accepted only:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b).

PRE contends that review is warranted because "(1) the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of this Court or with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (2) the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest." PRE petition, at pp. 3-4. As discussed further below, PRE's petition fails to satisfy any of these criteria for acceptance of review.

B. The Decision of the Court of Appeals is not in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court.

A vast majority of PRE's facts and arguments are focused on its groundless assertion that the Court of Appeals granted summary judgment to the Association by way of its Decision, and that material issues of fact precluded the Court of Appeals from granting summary judgment to the Association. (*See* PRE petition, at Argument §§B-C) However, that is a mischaracterization of the Decision and, for purposes of its petition, PRE's arguments should be focused on attempting to establish that the Court of Appeals' Decision was in conflict with a decision of this Court. However, PRE does not argue that the Decision is in conflict with a Supreme Court decision and cannot do so because Supreme Court precedent supports the Decision.

In reaching its Decision, the Court of Appeals relied upon the Supreme Court's decision in *Green River Valley Found., Inc. v. Foster*, 78 Wn.2d 245, 473 P.2d 844 (1970). (*See* Opinion, at pp. 9-11) In *Green River*, the Supreme Court held that "written or typed provisions prevail over conflicting printed clauses." *Id.* (citing *Creditors Ass'n v. Fry*, 179 Wash. 339, 37 P.2d 688 (1934)). "Where provisions of the same transaction are clear but conflicting, the operative provisions prevail over the recitals." *Id.* (citations omitted). Accordingly, the Court of Appeals properly followed legal precedent of this Court in holding that "[b]ecause the handwritten modification prevails over the conflicting printed willful misconduct or gross negligence provision in section 10, the handwritten reasonable care standard controls." (Opinion, at p. 11)

In *Green River*, the Court relied upon this Court's decision in *Creditors Ass'n*, that "[i]t is a rule of general application that, if in a contract

there appears a printed and a typewritten clause which are irreconcilable one with the other, the typewritten clause will prevail." *Id.* at 342 (citing *German-American Mercantile Bank v. Illinois Surety Co.*, 99 Wash. 9, 168 P. 772; *Eighme v. Holcomb*, 84 Wash. 145, 146 P. 391; *Davis v. Lee*, 52 Wash. 330, 100 P. 752, 132 Am. St. Rep. 973; 13 C. J. p. 536, § 498). Moreover, this Court has upheld and cited with approval the Court's holding in *Creditors Ass'n. See Franklin v. Northern Life Ins. Company*, 4 Wn.2d 541, 559, 104 P.2d 310 (1940) and *Preugschat v. Hedges*, 41 Wn.2d 660, 664, 251 P.2d 166 (1952).

Based upon the foregoing, the Court of Appeals' Decision does not conflict with a decision of this Court. Rather, the Decision is consistent with legal precedent established by the Supreme Court. As such, PRE's petition must be denied because the Decision is not in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court.

C. The Decision of the Court of Appeals is not in conflict with a decision of the Court of Appeals.

Likewise, PRE does not argue that the Court of Appeals' Decision is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals. PRE cannot do so because the Decision is consistent with other Court of Appeals decisions. Like the Supreme Court, appellate courts have upheld and consistently applied the law established in *Green River* and *Creditors Ass'n* that written or typed provisions prevail over conflicting printed clauses. *See*, for example, *Eichhorn v. Lund*, 63 Wn. App. 73, 79-80, 816 P.2d 1226 (1991) (Div. 1) and *Weaver v. Fairbanks*, 10 Wn. App. 688, 693-694, 519 P.2d 1403 (1974) (Div. 2).

Rather than arguing or attempting to establish that the Decision is in conflict with other appellate court decisions, PRE devotes its petition to addressing evidentiary issues as they relate to contract interpretation and standards for summary judgment. (*See*, generally, PRE petition, at Argument §B) Specifically, PRE claims that "appellate courts have adopted conflicting standards for when contract interpretation is ripe for summary judgment." (PRE petition, at p. 5) While not germane to this Court's decision to accept or deny PRE's petition, its allegation that the Court of Appeals granted the Association summary judgment *sua sponte* must be addressed.

As stated in this Court of Appeals' Decision regarding "Written Modification of the Management Agreement," "[c]ontract interpretation is a question of law we review de novo." (Decision, at p.11) The Court of Appeals thereafter addressed both facts and law supporting its conclusion that the handwritten reasonable care standard controls. (*Id*.) The Court of Appeals did not grant the Association summary judgment as PRE contends. To the contrary, by holding that "section 10 of the Management Agreement does not violate RCW 18.86.030(1)," the Court actually affirmed the trial court's denial of the Association's motion for partial summary judgment. (Decision, at pp. 8-9)

With respect to the trial court's orders granting PRE's motion for summary judgment and motion for reconsideration, the Court of Appeals engaged in contract interpretation as a matter of law. (Decision, at pp. 8-11) "Interpretation of a contract provision is a question of law only when (1) the interpretation does not depend on the use of extrinsic evidence, or (2) only one reasonable inference can be drawn from the extrinsic evidence." *Tanner Elec. Coop. v. Puget Sound Power & Light Co.*, 128 Wn.2d 656, 674, 911 P.2d 1301 (1996).

In this case, this Court of Appeals' contract interpretation did not depend on the use of extrinsic evidence. Rather, the Court of Appeals applied the objective manifestation theory of contracts and determined the parties' intent by focusing on the objective manifestations of the parties and the Agreement, rather than on the unexpressed subjective intent of the parties. (Decision, at p. 9 (citation omitted)) The Court of Appeals found that the parties modified the Agreement by way of "an agreement in writing" and that the parties both acknowledged the handwritten change to incorporate the good faith standard of care. (*Id.* at pp. 10-11) Because, pursuant to the Supreme Court's holding in *Green River*, the handwritten modification prevails over the conflicting printed misconduct or gross negligence provision in Section 10, the Court of Appeals properly decided that the handwritten reasonable care standard controls. (Decision, at p. 11) As a result, the Agreement has only one reasonable meaning with respect to the applicable standard of care.

In order for its petition to be accepted, PRE must establish that the Court of Appeals' Decision is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals. It does not even attempt to do so. Rather, PRE makes a wide-ranging request for relief, which includes overturning cases that were not cited in the Decision (*Wm. Dickson*) and establishing new law without demonstrating that the Decision conflicts with any other appellate court decision:

This Court should accept review and ask for supplemental briefing on the proper standard for when contract interpretation is a question of law, and whether "reasonableness of the interpretations urged by the parties" is extrinsic evidence. The Court should overrule the standard in cases such as Wm. Dickson, 128 Wn. App. 488, and hold that when there is no extrinsic evidence, or the extrinsic evidence is undisputed, interpretation of language is a question of law - even if that language has two or more should reasonable meanings. It also hold that "interpretations urged by the parties" are not extrinsic evidence unless the urging came from a witness before the disputes arose, or is a party admission.

(PRE petition, at p. 8) Because PRE's requested relief is wholly outside of

the purview of the petition before this Court and due to PRE's failure to

demonstrate a conflict with the Decision and other appellate court decisions, review should not be granted on this basis.

D. The Decision of the Court of Appeals does not involve an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

PRE's final contention is that the Decision involves an issue of substantial public interest. A substantial public interest exists, for example, where the Court of Appeals' holding below will affect numerous other individuals. *See, e.g., State v. Watson*, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577, 122 P.3d 903 (2005) (noting case before it "presents a prime example of an issue of substantial public interest" because the "Court of Appeals holding, while affecting parties to this proceeding, also has the potential to affect every sentencing proceeding in Pierce County after November 26, 2001, where a DOSA sentence was or is at issue.")

In its petition, PRE argues the Court of Appeals' Decision is an issue of substantial public interest because "[t]he standards of contract interpretation, and when contract interpretation is question of law, ... arise in almost every contract dispute." (PRE petition, at p. 5) PRE also claims that the Decision is an issue of substantial public interest because:

> It is a substantial public interest that courts interpret contracts applying consistent rules because it affects how contracts are negotiated, and confidence in judicial enforcement of contracts is vital to a democracy and free market economy.

(PRE petition, at p. 8)

Here, there is no substantial public interest apparent in PRE's request that this Court revisit an unpublished opinion applying well-settled law on contract interpretation. Moreover the Court of Appeals' Decision will not affect other litigants and is not a threat to democracy or free market economy as the Decision cannot be cited for precedent and, in any event, is entirely consistent with settled Washington law. Accordingly, review should not be granted on this basis.

E. PRE abandoned its appeal of the Decision of the Court of Appeals reversing summary judgment dismissal of the Association's lawsuit against PRE.

PRE did not petition this Court for review of the Court of Appeals' Decision reversing summary judgment dismissal of the Association's lawsuit against PRE. (Decision, at pp. 11-15) A party abandons an issue on appeal if it has not assigned error and has not briefed the issue. *McKee v*.

American Home Products, Corp., 113 Wn.2d 701, 705, 782 P.2d 1045

(1989). Accordingly, the Court of Appeals' Decision reversing summary judgment dismissal of the Association's lawsuit against PRE must be affirmed regardless of the outcome of PRE's petition.

///

///

F. The Association is entitled to an award of attorneys' fees and costs.

The Association requests its attorneys' fees and costs associated with PRE's petition pursuant to RAP 18.1. Section 11 of the Agreement provides for an award of fees in any action "to enforce any of the provisions hereof or to protect its interest in any manner arising under this agreement or to recover damages for breach of this agreement." The Association sued PRE for breach of the Agreement, seeking damages and/or to "protect its interest" under the Agreement. The Court of Appeals overturned the trial court's orders granting summary judgment dismissal of the Association's lawsuit against PRE.

Should this Court deny PRE's petition, pursuant to Section 11 of the Agreement and RAP 18.1, the Association requests an award of attorneys' fees and costs associated with the time associated with preparing an answer to the petition. *See Marine Enterprises v. Sec. Pac. Trading*, 50 Wn. App. 768, 774, 750 P.2d 1290 (1988) (holding contract fee award also available on appeal). While this Court should affirm the Court of Appeals' Decision in its entirety, the Association is nonetheless entitled to a fee award for time incurred on any portion of the Decision that is affirmed or which PRE failed to petition this Court for review; namely, the reversal of the trial court's granting summary judgment in favor of PRE.

V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons and those set forth in the Association's underlying briefing, the Association respectfully requests that this Court deny PRE's petition for review.